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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

AT SEATTLE

	CHRISTINE NEGRONI, individually and on behalf of the class she represents; MARIAN SCHEMBARI, individually and on behalf of the class she represents;  JACQUELINE TATUM, individually and on behalf of the class she represents; MOLLY BLOCKER, individually and on behalf of the class she represents; THERESA WALIGURA, individually and on behalf of the class she represents; EMILY WALIGURA, individually and on behalf of the class she represents;;   


Plaintiffs,


v.

PICCELL, LLC d/b/a PICCELL WIRELESS, a Washington corporation,


Defendant.


	No.  

COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION 




I.
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1.1 This case is brought as a class action on behalf of consumers who contracted with, were billed by or paid PicCell, LLC d/b/a PicCell Wireless (“PicCell”) for cellular phone services used in foreign countries. This case asserts claims for violation of the Fair Credit Billing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1666 et seq., the Washington Consumer Protection Act (“CPA”), RCW 19.86, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and seeks compensatory damages, statutory penalties, and injunctive and declaratory relief.

1.2 This complaint also asserts individual claims on behalf of the named Plaintiffs for violation of the Fair Credit Billing Act, the CPA, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

II.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2.1 This Court has jurisdiction under 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e) and 28 U.S.C. § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction).  

2.2 Venue in this Court is proper because PicCell resides and transacts business in this district and all or some of the conduct giving rise to the claims took place in this district.  In addition, PicCell’s standard Cellular Service Agreement provides that it shall be governed by the laws of the State of Washington and that disputes arising out of or relating to the agreement shall be litigated in state or federal court in King County, Washington.

III.
PARTIES

3.1 Plaintiff Lorie Christine Negroni is a resident of Old Greenwich, Connecticut and has been charged fees by and made payments to PicCell for cellular phone services used by her daughter in foreign countries.  

3.2 Plaintiff Marian Schembari is a resident of Davidson, North Carolina and is the daughter of Christine Negroni.  Ms. Schembari contracted with PicCell for cellular phone services in the United Kingdom in connection with her attendance at a study abroad program and incurred roaming fees and other charges from PicCell.

3.3 Plaintiff Jacqueline Tatum is a resident of Covina, California.  Ms. Tatum contracted with PicCell for cellular phone services in the United Kingdom in connection with her attendance at a study abroad program and incurred and paid roaming fees and other charges from PicCell.

3.4 Plaintiff Molly Blocker is a resident of New Hope Minnesota.  Ms. Blocker contracted with PicCell for cellular phone services in the United Kingdom in connection with her attendance at a study abroad program and incurred and paid roaming fees and other charges from PicCell.

3.5 Plaintiff Theresa Waligura is a resident of Monroeville, Pennsylvania and has been charged fees by and made payments to PicCell for cellular phone services used by her daughter in foreign countries.  

3.6 Plaintiff Emily Waligura is a resident of Granville, Ohio and is the daughter of Theresa Waligura.  Emily Waligura contracted with PicCell for cellular phone services in Denmark in connection with her attendance at a study abroad program and incurred roaming fees and other charges from PicCell..  

3.7 Defendant PicCell, LLC d/b/a PicCell Wireless is a Washington corporation with a principal business address in Seattle, Washington.  PicCell transacts business in the Western District of Washington and throughout the United States.  

IV.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

4.1 PicCell rents cellular telephones, SIM cards, and related equipment and accessories to students and others studying, working and traveling abroad.  PicCell’s services are marketed, advertised and promoted in connection with a large number of study abroad programs throughout the United States.

4.2 PicCell also has business agreements with a number of cellular service carriers in foreign countries, which provide cellular network services to PicCell customers when they are within those countries.

4.3 Consumers doing business with PicCell typically contract for a rental package for a particular foreign country or part of a foreign country, referred to as a home service area.  The rental package sets forth the rates that customers will be charged for various services, like incoming and outgoing calls and text messages, when the phone is used within the home service area.

4.4 The PicCell phones and SIM cards also can be used when consumers travel outside their home service areas.  In those cases, consumers incur roaming charges, which are charges imposed by the network service provider, also referred to as a serving carrier or host operator, in the area where the phone is being used.  These serving carriers do not bill the consumer directly for these fees, but charge PicCell, which in turn charges its customers.

4.5 Prior to the summer of 2008, PicCell did not post roaming rates in its rate information for customers.  Instead, PicCell represented or suggested in its marketing materials and customer agreements that roaming charges are set by the serving carriers and are simply passed through to the customers by PicCell.  However, PicCell routinely charged its customers substantially more than the roaming fees charged by the serving carriers and/or substantially more than the market rates in the country of use, without clearly or adequately disclosing in its customer agreements, marketing materials, or billing materials that it was adding to or multiplying the roaming fees charged by the serving carriers or that its roaming charges substantially exceeded market rates for roaming charges in the countries in which the cellular service was used. In some European markets, phone service providers must pay a value added tax (VAT) of approximately 20%. As an American company providing a service to American students, PicCell is exempt from this tax and therefore could offer rates 20% below local service providers. In light of this fact, PicCell’s above market rates are even more egregious.
4.6 The tariff or rate sheets provided to consumers by PicCell for its various cellular service rental packages typically state rates in the local currency of the home service area, for example in British pounds or Euros.  PicCell also calculates customer charges in the local currency, as do serving carriers who charge PicCell for roaming fees incurred by PicCell customers.  However, PicCell bills its customers for these charges in United States dollars on United States credit or debit cards.

4.7 PicCell represents in its customer agreements that it has the right to select the exchange rate for converting local currency charges to United States dollars.  However, rather than simply selecting an exchange rate, PicCell adds a percentage or premium to standard exchange rates in calculating the conversion from local to United States currency.  PicCell’s customer agreements, marketing materials, and billing materials do not clearly or adequately disclose this practice by PicCell.

4.8 Consumers contracting with PicCell are required to provide PicCell with a credit or debit card account when entering into a cellular service agreement.  PicCell automatically debits all charges to the account provided.  PicCell’s customer agreements provide that customers waive the right to dispute any charges if they do not notify PicCell of the dispute within 30 days after the billing date.  PicCell’s customer agreements further provide that customers must make all disputes through PicCell originally, and not their credit card companies, and that customers will be charged $30 for every chargeback, retrieval, or credit card dispute or request made by the customer, even if justified.  PicCell’s customer agreements also provide that customers must pay all charges on time even if a dispute over a charge is pending.  

4.9 Plaintiffs were subject to the practices described above.

4.10 Plaintiffs were billed for roaming charges by PicCell that substantially exceeded the roaming fees charged by the serving carriers and the usual roaming fees charged in the countries in which plaintiffs used their phones.

4.11 Plaintiffs were billed by PicCell in United States dollars using a conversion rate that included a percentage or premium over established exchange rates.

4.12 PicCell required plaintiffs to pay disputed charges even after they timely notified PicCell of the disputes and while the disputes were pending.

V.
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

5.1 Counts One, Two, Three, and Four of this complaint are properly maintainable as class actions under Fed R. Civ. P. 23(a) and 23(b)(1) through (b)(3).

5.2 The proposed class consists of all consumers who, during the four years preceding the date of this Complaint and continuing until the time of trial, have contracted with, been billed by, or paid PicCell for cellular phone services in foreign countries.  

5.3 The class, as defined, is so broad and numerous that identification and joinder of all members is impracticable.  The precise number and identities of class members are unknown to Plaintiffs, but can be obtained from PicCell’s records.

5.4 Plaintiffs are members of the class and their claims are typical of the claims of the members of the class as defined.

5.5 Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the class and the interests of all members of the class.

5.6 Plaintiffs have no interests that are antagonistic to or in conflict with those interests that they have undertaken to represent as class representatives.

5.7 Plaintiffs have retained competent and experienced counsel who are able to represent effectively the interests of the class.

5.8 Questions of law and fact that are common to the class predominate over any individual questions.  Among such common questions of fact and law are the following:

· Whether PicCell bills customers for roaming charges in amounts greater than the fees charged by the serving carriers that provided the cellular services.

· Whether PicCell bills customers for roaming charges that substantially exceed market rates for those charges in the countries where the cellular services were provided.

· Whether PicCell engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices by billing customers for roaming charges in excess of the fees imposed by the serving carriers and/or market rates for such charges without clearly and adequately disclosing this fact in its customer agreements or marketing and billing materials.

· Whether PicCell adds a percentage or premium to established exchange rates in calculating the conversion from local currency to United States dollars when billing customers.

· Whether PicCell engaged and is engaging in unfair or deceptive acts or practices by adding a percentage or premium to established exchange rates in calculating the conversion from local currency to United States dollars when billing customers without clearly and adequately disclosing this fact in its customer agreements or marketing and billing materials.

· Whether PicCell violated and is violating the Fair Credit Billing Act by imposing a deadline for billing disputes of 30 days, by prohibiting or penalizing customers for pursuing billing disputes through their credit card companies, and by taking actions to collect on disputed charges while the dispute is pending, including, but not limited to, requiring customers to pay disputed charges on time while a dispute is pending.

· Whether PicCell breached its contracts with customers and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by the conduct alleged above.

5.9 There is a community of interest among the class members in obtaining appropriate declaratory and injunctive relief, damages, and compensation for costs and fees incurred herein.

5.10 A class action is superior to other methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the claims presented by this Complaint and will prevent the undue financial, administrative, and procedural burdens on the parties and the Court which individual litigation would impose.  Plaintiffs and their counsel are not aware of any pending litigation on behalf of the class or individual class members related to these claims.  Because the damages sustained by individual members of the class are small compared to the resources of PicCell and the costs of individual litigation, it is impracticable for the members of the class to pursue individual litigation against PicCell in order to vindicate their rights.  

5.11 In addition, individual actions would create the risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for PicCell with respect to consumers or which could, as a practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of other class members not parties to the adjudication or substantially impair or impede the ability of such class members to protect their interests.

5.12 PicCell has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the proposed class, thereby making appropriate final declaratory and injunctive relief with respect to the members of the class as a whole.

5.13 Accordingly, the proposed class fulfills the criteria of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a), and certification of the class is appropriate under one or more of the provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b).

VI.
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

COUNT I  -
Violation Of The Washington Consumer Protection Act 



(Class and Individual Claim)

6.1 Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1.1 through 5.13 above.

6.2 PicCell is a “person” within the meaning of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (“CPA”), RCW 19.86.010 et seq., and conducts “trade” or “commerce” within the meaning of the CPA.

6.3 The CPA declares it unlawful to engage in unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.  PicCell has violated this prohibition by billing customers for roaming charges in excess of the charges imposed by the serving carriers and/or in excess of the market rates for such charges in the countries where the services were provided without clearly or adequately disclosing this practice to customers and while representing or suggesting in its customer agreements and marketing materials that roaming charges are determined by the serving carriers and that PicCell simply passes these charges through to its customers.  

6.4 These violations of the CPA are actionable under RCW 19.86.090.  Plaintiffs and the putative class members have been injured as a proximate result of PicCell’s violations of the CPA in amounts to be proven at trial.

COUNT II  -
Violation Of The Washington Consumer Protection Act 


(Class and Individual Claim)

6.5 Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1.1 through 6.4 above.

6.6 The CPA declares it unlawful to engage in unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.  PicCell has violated and is violating this prohibition by adding a percentage or premium to established exchange rates in calculating the conversion from local currencies to United States dollars when billing customers without clearly or adequately disclosing this practice in its customer agreements or marketing and billing materials and while representing or suggesting in such agreements and materials that it will select an established exchange rate.  

6.7 These violations of the CPA are actionable under RCW 19.86.090.  Plaintiffs and the putative class members have been injured as a proximate result of PicCell’s violations of the CPA in amounts to be proven at trial.

COUNT III  -
Violation of the Fair Credit Billing Act



(Class and Individual Claim)

6.8 Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1.1 through 6.7 above.

6.9 The Fair Credit Billing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1666 et seq., establishes certain duties on creditors and certain rights of obligors with respect to billing disputes.  Among other things, the Act provides that obligors have up to 60 days after transmission of a billing statement to provide creditors with notice of billing disputes and prohibits creditors from taking any action to collect disputed amounts during the pendency of a dispute.  

6.10 PicCell is a creditor within the meaning of the Fair Credit Billing Act.

6.11 Plaintiffs and the putative class members are obligors within the meaning of the Fair Credit Billing Act.

6.12 PicCell has violated and is violating the provisions of the Fair Credit Billing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1666, by asserting that customers waive any disputes over charges that are not raised within 30 days of the billing date, by prohibiting or penalizing customers from pursuing billing disputes through their credit card companies, and by requiring customers to pay disputed amounts prior to resolution of the dispute.

6.13 PicCell’s violations of the Fair Credit Billing Act are actionable under 15 U.S.C. § 1640.  Plaintiffs and the putative class members have been injured by PicCell’s violations of the Fair Credit Billing Act in amounts to be proven at trial.

COUNT IV –
Breach Of Contract And The Implied Covenant Of 
Good Faith And Fair Dealing

(Class and Individual Claim)

6.14 Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1.1 through 6.13 above.

6.15 PicCell entered into contracts with the plaintiffs and the putative class members.

6.16 Implied in every contract is a covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

6.17 PicCell breached its contracts and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing with respect to plaintiffs and the putative class by billing customers for roaming charges in excess of the charges imposed by the serving carriers and/or in excess of the market rates for such charges in the countries where the services were provided without clearly or adequately disclosing this practice to customers and while representing or suggesting in its customer agreements and marketing materials that roaming charges are determined by the serving carriers and that PicCell simply passes these charges through to its customers.

6.18 PicCell breached its contracts and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing with respect to plaintiffs and the putative class by adding a percentage or premium to established exchange rates in calculating the conversion from local currencies to United States dollars when billing customers without clearly or adequately disclosing this practice in its customer agreements or marketing and billing materials and while representing or suggesting in such agreements and materials that it would select an established exchange rate.

6.19 Plaintiffs and the putative class members have been injured as a proximate result of PicCell’s breach of contract and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in amounts to be proven at trial.

VII.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF


WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the class they represent pray for the following relief:

A.
An order certifying this case as a class action with respect to Counts One through Four above;


B.
A declaration that PicCell has violated the Washington Consumer Protection Act and Fair Credit Billing Act and breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the manners set forth above;  

C.
An order enjoining PicCell from engaging in the conduct complained of;

D.
Compensatory damages on behalf of the Plaintiffs and the class in an amount to be proven at trial;


E.
Treble damages under RCW 19.86.090 on behalf of the Plaintiffs and the class in an amount to be proven at trial;


F.
Statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1640 in an amount to be proven at trial;

 
G.
Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs as provided by RCW 19.86.090 and 15 U.S.C. § 1640 or otherwise available under law;

H.
Prejudgment interest; and


I.
Such other relief as the Court may deem just and equitable.

DATED this ______ day of September, 2008.





Respectfully submitted,





SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER





s/ Adam J. Berger





ADAM J. BERGER, WSBA #20714

KRISTIN HOUSER, WSBA #7286




Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Schroeter, Goldmark & Bender

810 Third Avenue, Suite 500

Seattle, Washington  98104

(206) 622-8000
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